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The downfall of Richard IlI: the return of Henry Tudor, Bosworth, the

The crisis of the Yorkist succession in 1483 was p

o S L o

urely the making of the Yorkist




e Wars of the Roses, 1450-1499

ry: an
neets

her Woodville family. It was a particular

excessive favour to Queen Elizabeth and
had all but exclusive control of

matter of contention that the Woodvilles
Edward IV’s sons, Edward, Prince of Wales, and Richard, Duke of York. In the north

of England, Edward IV was also increasing the power of his brother, Richard, Duke
of Gloucester, who held estates and power at an unprecedented level. Gloucester
was not alone among the nobility in his hatred and jealousy of the Woodvilles and
their influence, but his concern was all the greater as he feared a royal minority
dominated by the family. After all, as the king’s brother he was the natural choice
as regent or protector, but he knew that they would do all they could to oppose
this. As summarised by the historian Charles Ross: ‘The existence of these
rivalries was what made possible Duke Richard’s seizure of the throne in June
1483. Probably it was fear for his own safety and future which inspired his action,
rather than any deep-laid plan or the determination “to prove a villain” which
Shakespeare and the Tudor tradition attributed to him. Butin the circumstances

his seizure of power could only be achieve
these seriously weakened the ruling Yorkist party

within it’!

d by extremely violent means, and
and heightened the divisions

The events that occurred between the death of Edward IV on 9 April 1483 and
Richard I1I’s coronation on 6 July 1483 were com plicated and swift, and are

outlined in the following timeline of events:

5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy, 1483-1486

4 May

Sgg?rr:dvz c?ronation, c?riginal[y planned for this day, is

Ted. Heds escorted into London by Gloucester and
Buckmgh_am and housed in the Bishop of London’s palace
$uien Elizabeth, the Marquess of Dorset and Richard, Duk.e of
ork, have already taken sanctuary at Westiinster Abbey.

10 May

Richard, Duke of Gloucester, is appointed Lord Protector.

13 May

A summons is made for Parliament to be held on 25 June

14 May

Richard sends men to arrest Sir Edward Wooduville.

16 May

A summons is made for the convocation of the clergy

18 May

The new coronation date is
el set for 24 June (but later changed to

By 19 May

Edward V is moved to the Tower of London.

23 May

gl:):cesEtla?r, Euckingham and the archbishops try to persuade
en Elizabeth to leave the sanct i
ducen uary of Westminster Abbey,

10-11 June

tThf Duke of Glouce.ster writes to the cities of York and Hull, and
o Lord Neville, asking for military support and for the troo’ps to
muster at Pontefract on 18 June. The city of York is specifically

told of a plot organised b
y the queen to persuad
Duke of Gloucester’s cause. ’ eihemtothe

The second
coup d’état:

13 June

Lord Hastings, Archbishop Rotherham of York, Bishop Morton
::d (perhaps) Lord Stanley are arrested at a council meeting at

! fe Tower of London by the Duke of Gloucester. Lord Hastin

is immediately executed without trial, after being charged wg':h
treasonable conspiracy with the queen. The other threi arr I
men are imprisoned. .

Timeline
9 April The death of Edward IV.
10-11April | The Royal Council takes control of government.
14 April News of Edward IV’s death reaches the Prince of Wales, now
Edward V, at Ludlow.
16-18 April | Edward IV’s funeral co rtége travels from Westminster to Windsor.
20 April Edward IV is interred at Windsor.
23 April Richard, Duke of Gloucester, starts his journey south from York.
24 April Edward V and his uncle Earl Rivers leave Ludlow.
29 April Edward V and Earl Rivers reach Northampton. Edward continues
to Stony Stratford while Earl Rivers waits behind to meet the
Duke of Gloucester and Duke of Buckingham, with whom he
reportedly spends a pleasant evening.
The first
coup d’état:
30 April Earl Rivers, Richard Grey and Thomas Vaughan are arrested by
the Duke of Gloucester and Duke of Buckingham and sent to
Yorkshire. Edward V's household is disbanded and he is taken
into the custody of Gloucester and Buckingham, who protest
their loyalty and that their actions are against traitors who they
. claim were plotting their destruction.

16 June

Edward V’s brother, Richard, Duke of York, is removed from

zancFuary at Westminster Abbey to the Tower of London by
arc.:lmal I-Bourchler. Parliament and the coronation are delayed

again until November. ”

19 June

A new proclamation against plotters is received from the Duke of

Gloucester at the city of Yo
rk
left there. Y , as the troops from York had not yet

22 June

The bastardy of the princes is preached at St Paul’s Cross

London, by Ralph Shaa. Earl Ri 5 goma
of execution. Ivers makes his will in expectation

24 June

;I':: Duke of Buckingham urges the Duke of Gloucester’s title to
s crown at the London Guildhall. Earl Rivers, Richard Grey and
omas Vaughan are executed at Pontefract.

25 June

The end of Edward V’s reign.
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'o‘ Voices from the past

Richard, Duke of Gloucester, is elected as king by a meeting of

26 June
estates. He accepts the appointment and his reign as Richard Il
commences.

6 July The coronation of Richard IIl.

In a matter of three short and bloody months the reign of the rightful heir to
rt and many leading men had lost their lives in order for

the throne was cut sho
ne. Not only had the Duke

the Duke of Gloucester successfully to ta ke the thro
of Gloucester tried to spread the story that Edward IV’s sons were basta rds, but

he also murdered significant men who had been close to Edward IV. These men
included Earl Rivers, Richard Grey and William, Lord Hastings. He also held the
usurped Edward V in the Tower of London, along with Edward IV’s other son, and
next heir, Richard, Duke of York. All of his actions were deeply controversial and
problematic for society in general, not least holding Edward V a prisoner.

n London following the execution of Lord Hastings as described in a

The situation i
21 June 1483:

letter from Simon Stallworthe to Sir William Stonor,

“‘Worshipful sir, | commend myself to you, and for tidings | hold you happy that
you are out of the press, for with us there is much trouble, and every man doubts
the other. As on Friday last the lord chamberlain was beheaded soon upon noon.
On Monday last there was at Westminster a great plenty of harnessed men; there
was the deliverance of the Duke of York to my lord cardinal, my lord chancellor,
and other many temporal lords. My lord of Buckingham met with him in the midst
of the hall at Westminster, my lord protector receiving him at the Star Chamber
door with many loving words, and so departed with my lord cardinal to the Tower,
where he is happy, blessed be Jesus. The Lord Lisle is come to my lord protector
and waits upon him. Itis thought there shall be 20 000 men of my lord protector
and my lord of Buckinghamin London this week; to what intent | know not but to
keep the peace. My lord has much business and more than he is content withall,

5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy, 1483-148

g[;?:rzt;;ri;v:;l: \_:_v;)uld bc? taken. The Lord Archbishop of York, the Bishop of
S Therewer with f\:dastef Oliver King (I suppose they shall come out
poverine be.sent rnare rpen in their places for sure keeping. And | suppose that
They areno ot en of my lord protector to these lords’ places in the country.
o l1E I yM_o come out of m.fard yet. As for Foster, he is in captivity and
Tl pardo.n n;s:r;e;;il::nzrlill: p:,'ison: what shall happen to her, | know not.
: . ing, | am so sick that I ma
pen; and Jesu preserv i
pen an Simonpstauw:rﬁo]:}from London the 21 day of June by the hands of your

The issue of the Princes in the Tower

B
jogg ::deayyhli:% Edwars V had been moved to the Tower of London, and was
younger brother Richard, Duke of York ,
By 3 ,0on 16 June. While th
L 7d, | ere
fewfvzg::lggftseofltrle two boys playing in the grounds of the Tower for the next
, arter July 1483 they were not seen or h i
o : : eard of again. The fate of
myv::;s;: sfsclzns |r_1 the Tower of London is without doubt one of the greatest
pysierie oft .e Middle Age:s and their murder is the greatest accusation laid at
thehan hsot Rfchard I1l. While it has been a matter of continued debate among
istorians and enthusiasts, particularly wi
: \ y with defenders of Rich
o : ichard Il
e ki:;socif:i\;vr;hat he.- wa;as rlwt guilty of their murder, the important fact is that
poraries believed he had ki i i
it o killed his nephews, and that this belief

ihysical evidence for the Princes in the Tower

b\.(;vtc;1 sseettsS ﬂ:rc;nj:_werj discovered at different times in the 17th century, and

et oo exist;m,: tttc:]be the bones of Edward V and his brother Richard. One

o (,)f Itjo de bones were al!egedly found in 1647 in a walled-up

g bore ot n Tn. The :suggestnon was that they were the bones of two

o een left to die in the room. However, the bones were never
y examined, even by 17th century medical standards, and most historians
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William Hastings, first Baron Hastings,
styled Lord Hastings, C. 1430-83

Lord Hastings was a popular figure of Edward IV’s
reign and, while he was incredibly powerful thanks to
his closeness to the king, it did not affect his general
standing in the eyes of many. However, there was
friction between him and the Woodville court party,
and there was particular tension between him and
the queen regarding the division of the lands of the
earldom of Shrewsbury. Itis not surprising then that
Lord Hastings opposed letting the Woodbvilles, and in
particular, Earl Rivers, have the larger share of power
over the young Edward V. He argued for Richard, Duke
of Gloucester, to be appointed Protector, rather than

the immediate coronation of the young king.

Apparently on good terms during Edward IV’s reign,

and in April and May 1483, it was a surprising turn

of events that the Duke of Gloucester had Lord

Hastings summarily executed for conspiring against
him. Contemporary chroniclers, including the
Croyland Chronicler and Polydore Vergil, believed the
accusation had no basis, but rather that Lord Hastings
had not supported the deposition of Edward V. Some
historians have since suggested that there was a
conspiracy between Lord Hastings and the Woodbvilles,
as unlikely as it seems, and that the Duke of Gloucester

panicked in the light of this threat.”

Anthony Woodville, second ]
Anthony ¥ Earl Rivers,

Earl Rivers was doubtless in a much stronger position
of influence over Edward V than Lord Hastings, causin
the tension between them to grow, but his pos’sessiong
of the young king was to be his downfall. Following the
death of Edward IV, Earl Rivers set off with his your?
charge from Ludlow to London, and at the Duke of y
Gloucester’s request he went via Stony Stratford in
Northamptonshire. The Earl and the Duke met, and it
appears that there was no animosity between ;he two
men, and nor had there been in the previous months
However, in order to gain possession of Edward V the.
Duke of Gloucester had Earl Rivers arrested and ’

imprisoned in the Duke’s Yorkshire castle of Sheriff
Hutton. A trial of sorts was conducted by the Earl of
Northumberland, and Earl Rivers was executed on

'25 June 1483. He had written his will two days earlier
in full knowledge that his days were numbered. ’

Discussion points

On thfe death of Edward IV, Lord Hastings and Earl Rivers
were in opposition as to how the minority of Edward V
should be managed.

1. Compare and contrast the politics of Lord Hastings
and Earl Rivers.

2. Assess why the two men met similar fates at the

hands of the Duke of Gloucester.
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i uch more credibility

oo Signiﬁca“Zi-;:i‘:g;irdsie: i(rieﬁg I:::Z vTere declared to be

f Edward IV’s sons, and King Charles Il ordered their re~interrr'1:1agcti 21;
e bOF‘les o where they have remained. These bones were exami e
WeStm'fTS.te" g natomist in 1933 who both agreed that they were the or:j .
o ot a”‘f e Some still doubt whether they were the bor!es of Ed)Nar. t
o the'young pml](cesméYork but further examination has been denied to scientists.
i R'lChard’ . ee ‘?icism :che likelihood is that the bones afre those of the two
zzi?:g:},st:)ur:tehs:y Etill do ;mt answer the question of who killed them.

> ngerous
Events of the Wars of the Roses period were Certa-mhly bl.;’)t(l);/j :,niln:.lsr:efsly Once
‘i h were dealt with swi
ts of the reigning monarc : fer for
Henry s heirapparntad been kiled a Tewkesury, s o saferfr
el )
; | as well. The dea )
’s reign to do away with Henry V . rovin
E?Wla’d r:\ies- rc‘aer:gthe orders of his brother was the resultlof h.lm rigufrlzegedentgs
. ct; acrizn erous and politically irresponsible. So, ConSIdenln gt(:aes.stlepin 1327,
to de thergs dating back to the murder of Edward Il at Berkeley e for gotting
?rE 0ll the more probable that Richard lll had a very strong rlno ;temporary
Irti:isjf Edward IV’s rightful successor and his b;ot.hir. Cdemac;:gecthe sea boyshad
. . i tion of Richar
. unanimous in their accusa . izabeth, must
W_rlters‘::‘*:; from sight after July 1483. Even their mother, Quesn Etilzaorted
i:\fj Eelieved by the autumn of 1483 that they were de_?:é .?I!:;:e regsen?:ep BT
the section on
ing Henry Tudor on the throne (see . lan that
'prlac;: ":)g ::cl is ir:conceivable that she would have given her S”‘:‘pi’gazo ?r:grz dead.
u uo1d ;jisinherit her two sons unless she was already sure tha Y
wo

i ho as a loyal Yorkist
i rd, Duke of Buckingham, w
e ol no Henrytsjrarzod to Henry Tudor’s cause unless he too were

have dismi
by modern historians. The bon

t have
supporter would no ;
convinced that Edward V and Richard were dead.
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The rebellion against Richard 11 in 1483 began as a movement to place
Edward V back on the throne, but it swiftly changed as the rebels assumed the
princes were dead. If they were alive, Richard Ill would have produced them to
quell the rebellion, but he clearly was in no position to do so. Ironically, while
keeping the princes alive would have been just as problematic for Richard I,
their disappearance and supposed death only added to his problems in 1483,

Richard III’s defenders have pointed the blame of the murders to candidates other
than the king. John Howard, Duke of Norfolk, has been one such candidate, but
this was deftly dismissed by the historian Anne Crawford.* Another candidate

has been offered as Henry, Duke of Buckingham, who is more likely to have been
involved in the deaths of the boys. However, there is still no possibility that he
murdered a deposed king without the usurper king’s knowledge and consent. As a
close confidant of Richard |I| up until the summer of 1483, it is quite plausible that
Buckingham acted on the king’s orders, and if not Buckingham there is little doubt
someone else would have been commanded to do it. The consensus is that while
Richard Il did not carry out the deed in person, it was done on his command. This
makes another candidate for the murderer of the princes all the more unlikely,

and the accusation that Henry Tudor was their murderer has been dismissed.

SB Chrimes has shown that Henry Tudor was unaware of the precise fate of
the princes.*

The main consequence of the disappearance of the princes was that fuel

was added to the fire of the rebels in southern and western England, where
support for Richard Il was already weak. Yet others were not as disturbed by
the disappearance. Richard III’s support in the north of England was as strong
as ever. Many members of the nobility even supported the usurper king despite
his deposition of Edward V and possible murder of the deposed king. However,
the murders have been used to much greater effect in historical character
assassinations than in any contemporary response to the king.

Richard III’s position as a usurper

The grounds on which Richard 1] justified his usurpation are rather unclear. While
one contemporary stated that it was on the basis that Edward IV was a bastard,
later sources only state that Edward IV’s sons were rumoured to be bastards.

The election of Richard Il as king on 26 June by his peers suggested that he was

the real heir of Richard, Duke of York, all along and that he was therefore the
rightful king.

Modern historians, including SB Chrimes and Charles Ross, are doubtful that
Richard Il had held a long-standing ambition for the throne and are keen to point
out the loyalty he showed to his brother Edward |V throughout his reign.® However,
it was no secret that his loyalty did not stretch to his sister-in-law Elizabeth, and

he doubtless had the belief that he was the only man capable of managing a
Successful and peaceful royal minority. Yet within the space of a few weeks he
became convinced that he should move from being Lord Protector to king, and
Conspiracy theories still abound as to who or what convinced him to claim the
throne. One contemporary, Philippe de Commynes, accused Robert Stillington,

—————————
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Conduct research into the many
conspiracy theories su rrounding
the princes in the Tower and assess
how useful such theories are to the
modern historian. Chapter 5 of C
Ross’s Richard lllis a useful starting
point, buteven a general internet
search should produce some
interesting results.

Royal progress: a tour of the
kingdom made by a monarch
and his household retinue,
usually in order to impress
the image of the king on his

houses.

subjects, but also it was often to
cut the costs of the household
by staying at noble and gentry

s of the Roses, 1450-1499

Bishop of Bath and Wells, of suggesting the possibility of the illegitimacy of
Edward IV and his sons to the duke, and called him a ‘wicked bishop’’

Richard III’s actions in order to claim the throne had immediate consequences,
and the reaction against his ruthlessness was far-reaching. It was unsurprising
that the remaining members of the Woodville family resorted to active conspiracy,
but it was perhaps not so expected, by Richard 1l at least, that many members of
the leading gentry opposed him. This was particularly the case in southern and
western England and involved many of Edwa rd IV’s former servants who were

loyal to the true Yorkist line of succession.

The position of any usurper king was always a difficult one, and opposition was
n. Richard lll was the third usurper king

a guaranteed consequence of usurpatio

of the 15th century, and like his predecessors Henry IV and Edward IV, he was
faced with the prospect of rebellion and conspiracy. In the face of doubtless
expected opposition, Richard Il began a customary royal progress through his
realm following his coronation on 6 July 1483. He progressed through the Thames
Valley and on to Gloucester, where the Duke of Buckingham left his company to

’

return to his estates in the Welsh Marches. Richard Il continued on to the Duchy of

Lancaster estates, and on to arrive in York on 29 August. There he invested his son

Edward as Prince of Wales.

Factional rivalries

The emergence of Henry Tudor

As has been shown in previous chapters, while Henry Tudor did have a tenuous
claim to the throne, before 1483 he was in no position to even consider the
possibility of staking his claim. He had been living in Brittany with his uncle,
Jasper Tudor, since 1471, and they were greatly protected by the Duke of Brittany
who saw theirvalueasa bargaining chip in diplomatic relations between England,
France and Brittany. After the Treaty of Picquigny in 1475, Edward IV had made
more concerted efforts to get the Tudors returned to En gland, with the support of
Margaret Beaufort and her husband Lord stanley. She had made her peace with
Edward IV after the Battle of Tewkesbury and was apparently keen to secure the
safe return of her son and find a place for himin the Yorkist regime. ltwas also
suggested thata suitable bride be found for Henry Tudor and that he should be
given lands as befitted his status as Earl of Richmond.

5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy, 1483-1486

Figure 5.2: The tomb effigy of Margaret Beaufort at Westminster Abbey.

In 1476 the Duke of Brittany was persuaded to return Henry Tudor to England
btft Henry feigned illness before he embarked his ship. The Duke chan egdalr' ’
mind and called for the return of Henry, who escaped his English escoi andli k
sanc‘Fuary in St Malo. Edward IV was furious that Henry had returned to the D OIS
of Br'lttany’s court, but there was little he could do about it. All he could d was
continue to exert pressure on the Duke and offer incentives to Henry to re:uv:zio

England. Yet on Edward IV's sudd ;
end -
in Brittany. n death on 9 April 1483, Henry Tudor was still

Little is known about Henry Tudor’s life in Brittany, where he and his uncl
were under th.e protection of the Duke of Brittany, other than where thecu(re\cle
gzgnngg::\if:; llr\:ed. However, these w<::-re his formative years, and the historian
e g Ha€:1nmhuasst shummed l:Ip his time in.Brittanyr as ‘a restricted but active
o Of 5 er ave received c?nventlonal martial training and been
st e et s DUt Ns o i eonmgoys

. e to lose but his life. In his late teen
Henry did spend part of his exile with Brittany’s elit i i e such 2
Bertrand du Parc. It is probable that he recei\yed as is:fnf:legzzies 2‘:;‘5:;2:‘;:35

possible, and this included physically d i iningi i
possibte, and ! phy y demanding training in the techniques and

gsl;c:sddza:z :)hf nglfrd v, ijc appeared to all that Edward V’s succession was

o c;ntin eh- uf e of Ij3r|ttan'y was ;?robably certain that the underage king

Ao ue his father s‘forellgn policies. However, Richard lII’s usurpation
matically changed the situation and Henry Tudor’s position. He was now the

ACTIVITY 5.2

Margaret Beaufort, Countess of
Richmond and Derby (1443-1509)
was a witness to the full course of
the events of the Wars of the Roses
and was a staunch supporter of ,
the Lancastrian cause. She was

a political survivor and quite an
extraordinary woman.

1. Conduct research into her
life and produce a timeline of
major events in her life.

2. Write a one-page assessment
of her role in bringing Henry
VIl to the throne, with
reference to her marriage to
Thomas, Lord Stanley.

A recent biography that may be
useful is E Norton’s Margaret
Beaufort: Mother of the Tudor
Dynasty, but you could also refer
to the Oxford Dictionary of National
Biography Online Edition at http://
www.oxforddnb.com and MK Jones
and MG Underwood’s The King’s
Mother: Lady Margaret Beaufort,
Countess of Richmond and Derby.
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biggest rival for the crown, and his position had to be negated by Richard lllin
order to stabilise his authority. One possible option was for Richard Ill to secure
Henry’s return to England and to exert full control of him. In order to discuss
Henry’s position, among other pressing matters, Richard Ill sent an embassy to
Brittany in July 1483. However, Henry was still a valuable pawn to the Duke of
Brittany in his relations with both England and France, and he would not give him

up easily.

Dissensions among the Yorkist nobility

On the accession of Edward IV, the Yorkists all but dominated the aristocracy,

and there was barely a Lancastrian to be found. However, Richard III’s usurpation
of the throne revived old divisions between those who supported the king, and
those who did not, in effect dividing the Yorkist elite. This division had been
prevented by the abilities of Edward IV to manage the discord between leading
members of the aristocracy and his wife and the Wooduville family, but dissension
was inevitable after his death. Many of the elite showed their support and loyalty
to Richard ll, including the other nobles of the royal blood, including Edward
Plantagenet, Earl of Warwick, and John de la Pole, Earl of Lincoln. The Duke of
Norfolk was perhaps the most loyal of the non-royal blood, and while there were
others like him, including Lord Stanley, the Earl of Northumberland and the Duke

of Buckingham, their loyalties were certainly not assured.

Overt supporters of Richard 11l were few and far between, and it quickly became
apparent that there were many in the elite who, while not outright opponents

of the king, would certainly not come out in support of him. The lack of political
activity and support from the elite was a clear response to the bloodletting of

the usurpation, in particular the death of Lord Hastings. In the following months,
opposition was to come from unsurprising quarters of the elite, including Margaret
Beaufort, Queen Elizabeth and the Marquess of Dorset. Yet plotting and rebellion
did not bring many of the elite out to show their support to the king. The political

silence was deafening.

‘Buckingham’s rebellion’

Origins of the rebellion
Rebellion was brewing as early as September 1483, as disaffection for Richard 1l

grew out of distaste for the mode of the usurpation and the growing rumours that
his nephews were no longer alive in the Tower of London. The rebellion grew out
of a complex period of plotting against the new king, involving the name of Henry
Tudor, even though he was not present in England when his position as a rival to
the throne became the focus of plots against Richard lil. The plots that emerged
to put him on the throne were orchestrated by his mother, Margaret Beaufort, and
Queen Elizabeth, who was still living in sanctuary in Westminster Abbey.

The rebellion itself may not have been much of a surprise to Richard Il but just
who was involved did come as a surprise and a terrible blow to his cause. The
namesake of the rebellion was the Duke of Buckingham, once Richard lII’s
most loyal ally, who may have been turned against the king by John Morton,
who was in the Duke’s custody. Other key figures involved had been loyal to

Edward IV, including Sir John Fo i
_ ) gg, Sir John Cheyney, Sir Richard Gui i
Giles Daubeney and William Brandon. ’ uidiord, =i

Location and leaders

The rebellion had three main centres. One was the south-east of England, whe
the traditionally rebellious county of Kent was joined by Surrey and Sussc;x -
under the leadership of Edward IV’s former household servants and some v:rho
were connected to the households of Queen Elizabeth and her sons. A significant
feature of this centre of rebellion was that it was not as heavily influ;ancei b "
magnates and barons, so the gentry was able to wield significant influence :nd
could rely on popular following. The gentry community was also close-knit with

networks of inter-marriage and close fami i
; ily loyalties. Fathers were join
and cousins supported cousins. jomedbysons

TlTe se_cond centre of rebellion was in south-central England, in Salisbu
Wlltshlre., and Newbury, Berkshire. Support also came from ';he countiersy:)f
Hampshire, Dorset and Somerset. As in the South East, many of the leaders we
sn.?pporters of Edward IV, although there were also men who had been associ trZ
with George, Duke of Clarence, including Sir Roger Tocotes and John Harco fte
Edward IV’s former household men included Sir William Berkeley and Sir Jouhn‘

Cheyne. As in the South East, close family i
) ily ties strength
rebellious gentry. y gthened the numbers of the

The south-west centre of rebellion was predominantly led by two men, Thoma
Grey, Marquess of Dorset, and Sir Thomas St Leger. The Marquess of Dc;rset w X
nc_;t only a loyal servant of Edward IV, but he was also very closely associated ®
with the Woodville family. The Marquess and Sir Thomas were close associat:

as their children were contracted to marry. They were supported by memerjsof

the gentry who, as in the other areas, h
; , had also been Edward IV’s se
three members of the Courtenay family. AT Sienas

Knight of the Body: an
attendant on the king’s person
who had frequent and intimate
contact with the king.

',1 Voices from the past

A Surrey Rebel - Sir George Browne
of Betchworth Ashford

Sir George was one of Edward IV's loyal household
servants, even though his father, Sir Thomas Browne
had been executed by the Earl of Warwick in 1460. '
Sir George’s stepfather, Sir Thomas Vaughan, was the
likely influence that encouraged Sir George to enter
Edward IV’s service. His career was typical of the
gentry of the period, and he combined royal service
with service to his county. He was MP for Guildford in
1472 and then for Surrey in 1478, and was appointed
Sheriff of Kent in 1480. Serving the king, he was a
Knight of the Body and was present as a banner
bearer at Edward IV's funeral.

A Kentish Rebel - Sir John Fogge of

-Sir John was a longstanding Yorkist loyalist, having
joined the Yorkists when they invaded England in 1460.
He served the king as Treasurer of the king’s household
between 1461 and 1468 and was a trusted councillor
until Edward IV’s death. He had also served Prince
Edward on his Welsh council from 1473 onwards.

His other royal connections included his marriage

to his first wife, Alice Haute, through whom he was
connected to the Woodville family. For his county, he
was the MP for Kentin 1478.
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i ivation for the rebellion was the outrage felt
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e r(.zbdhon’f{:he rinces from the Tower of London, and to take the daughters of
- relzalflefrlm sa[:lctuary and send them overseas. As the rumours s!aread thaththe
f)?iv::;s were dead, the rebels were not detecrir;d. The ieéa:alll:?: r:VtZs pgl::: : ::;
cause by the plotting of Queen Elizabeth and Margare o e daghters

the throne on the condition that he marry one of Edwa

Icui:::r)t?a ps a surprise that while the rebellion wa§ l.ed by those toie:]l :;) :;z e
Yorkist cause, they were prepared to turnto a traditional Lancastri

their campaign.

i involved
The Duke of Buckingham becomes | ; » , o
The plotting took an unusual turn in that Richard llI’s klnghr_nakt?r, Hernjzfj:;a 0
i inst his master. Through his prisone
Duke of Buckingham, turned again : e eainald
i kingham was put in contac
rton, Bishop of Ely, the Duke of Buc . :
I:r(;y Margaret Beaufort’s agent. She was the Duke of Buckingham s a;nz.t':'lr:;zles
: i i in Brecon in S0 ;
kingham to raise a revoltin
made plans for the Duke of Buc iaperion
i i ouraged by envoys an
and in the meantime Henry Tudor was enc : | o il
i im. The revolt in Wales was ptanne
return to England to stake his claim. _ \ Lo
i i i i Combined with the uprisings in
ith an invasion force from Brittany. . »
‘gngland the timing was absolutely crucial. However, news Ic:f t‘i)hekplo'fc V[:Zif loe-li Ve;as
- i | was able to prepare himself. The Duke o
by royal spies and Richard |l oot partE
i defence of London, while Richart
placed in charge of the - R e e
i Buckingham. Richard lll's supp ‘
focused on defeating the Duke of . r
cimmanded to prepare defences on the English/Welsh border and. must;er thee: .
troops. The royal preparations meant that the rebels could nol"cl wait any Z?nggs o
: i i 18 October 1483 there were i
Tudor to land on English soil, and on ( . there we
:f:crgn Maidstone in Kent, Newbury in Berkshire, Salisbury in Wiltshire and Exeter

in Devon.

ingham
The capture of the Duke of Bucking ‘ ‘
Richardplll went on the attack against the Duke of Buckingham and had him

surrounded. The Duke was deserted by his Welsh troops and faileti tf: rall):j aan:d
‘ i i idi t was betraye
i fordshire). He went into hiding, bu
support in Weobley (Here 4 O b
i i tion took place at Salisbury o
captured by Richard lIl. His execu _ it I
i i Salisbury to meet the sou
1483. Richard 1l swiftly moved from
in Exeter, safe in the knowledge that the other rebels had been deterr?d fr:n
attackiné London by the Duke of Norfolk’s forces. Exeter putl :,I[J 20 d: ?:omas o
i i ied the city, where the rebel leader Sir :
against Richard lll and he occupie . ; el it
? on fleet had meanwhile bee
Leger was executed. Henry Tudor’s invasi : ; . s
ivi t he realised his arrival was too
a storm, and on arriving near the coas i
turned back for Normandy. The rest of the rebels, discouraged by th.e deathdof the
Duke of Buckingham and not trusting the abilities of Henry Tudor, dispersed.

5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy,

The strengths and weaknesses of Richard I11’s position
in 1484

In early 1484 an Act of Parliament settled the crown upon Richard Ill and his issue
in order to assure his position as the King of England. It was very clear in ensuring
the illegitimacy of any other possible claims to the throne:

1483-14

Extract from the 1484 Act of Parliament

‘[Wherefore] it appears and follows evidently that the said King Edward during his
life and the said Elizabeth lived together sinfully and damnably in adultery. ... Also

it appears evidently and follows, that all the issue and children of the said King '
Edward are bastards, and unable to inherit or to claim anything by inheritance, by Key terms
the law and custom of England.

issue: a person’s children.
‘Moreover we consider how that afterwards by the three estates of this realm

- _ three estates: the combination
assembled in a parliament held at Westminster, the 17th year of the reign of the of the lords spiritual, lords

said King Edward IV ... George, Duke of Clarence, brother to the said King Edward temporal and the Co,mmons
now de:ceased, was cz:)nvicted and attainted of high treason ... by reason whereof, that is the Houses of Lords and
all the issue of the said George was and is disabled and barred of all right and

: ) Commons.
claim which in any wise they might have or challenge by inheritance to the crown
and dignity royal of this realm, by the ancient law and custom of this same realm.

‘Beyond this we consider how that you are the undoubted son and heir of Richard
late Duke of York, truly inheritor to the said crown and dignity royal, and as in right
King of England, by way of inheritance; and that at this time, the premises duly
considered, there is no other person living but you only who may by right claim
the said crown and royal dignity, by way of inheritance, and how that you were
born within this land; by reason whereof, as we judge in our minds, you are more
naturally inclined to the prosperity and common welfare of the same, and all the
three estates of this land have, and may have, more certain knowledge of your
birth and filiation abovesaid. We consider also the great wit, prudence, justice,
princely courage, and memorable and laudable acts in diverse battles, which as we
know by experience you have hitherto done, for the salvation and defence of this

same realm; and also the great nobility and excellence of your birth and blood,
that s to say, England, France and Spain.

Wherefore ... we ... choose you, high and mighty prince, as our king and sovereign
lord, etc., to whom we know for certain it appertaineth of inheritance to be
chosen. And hereupon we humbly desire, pray, and require your noble grace

that according to this election of us the three estates of this land, as by your true
inheritance, you will accept and take upon you the said crown and royal dignity
...and in case you do so, we promise to serve and to assist your highness, as true
and faithful subjects and liegemen, and to live and die with you in this matter,

and every other just quarrel. For certainly we are determined to adventure and
commit ourselves to the peril of our lives and jeopardy of death than to live in such
thraldom and bondage as we have lived for long time heretofore, oppressed and
injured by extortions and new impositions against the laws of God and man, and
the ... laws of this realm, wherein every Englishman has an inheritance ... so that,
after great clouds, troubles, storms and tempests, the son of justice and of grace
may shine upon us, to the comfort and gladness of all true Englishmen.”




—

A/AS Level History for AQA: The Wars of the Roses, 1450-1499 1
5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy, 1483-1486

e

Conduct research into the life of
John Howard, Duke of Norfolk.
Write a one-page biography and
summarise why he was a fiercely,
loyal supporter of Richard Ill.

The recent biography by Anne
Crawford, John Howard, Duke of
Norfolk, c. 1425-1485, is the most
useful resource for this task.
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Growing support for Henry Tudor

Richard 11l may have been victorious against the rebels in late 1483, but the
rebellion had promoted a likely claimant to the throne, who had previously
been dismissed as no threat at all. One of the most serious consequences of
the rebellion that weakened Richard llI’s position was that many of the rebel
leaders fled to Henry Tudor’s side abroad, including the Marquess of Dorset and
the Bishops of Ely, Salisbury and Exeter. Significant members of the gentry also
fled abroad and strengthened Henry Tudor’s position, such as Sir John Cheyne,
Sir Giles Daubeney and Sir Robert Willoughby. Henry Tudor had therefore

been elevated in the political scale to become a real danger to the security of
Richard lIl’s rule.

It was perhaps a comfort to Richard 11l that many more members of the nobility
did not join the Duke of Buckingham and the Marquess of Dorset in taking up
arms against him. However, few people responded to the rebellion by taking up
arms on behalf of the king either. He had strong allies in his immediate circle,
including the Duke of Norfolk, Francis, Viscount Lovell, John, Lord Scrope of
Bolton, and John, Lord Zouche. Yet the rest of the nobility remained distant and
added to the political uncertainty of the reign. Indeed, Richard 11I’s power-base in
the nobility was worryingly slim, and he could no longer safely rely on his most
powerful allies. His greatest ally, the Duke of Buckingham, was dead. Thomas,
Lord Stanley, had become something of an unknown quantity, as he was now
married to Margaret Beaufort. Henry Percy, the fourth Earl of Northumberland,
was probably harbouring resentment towards Richard [1l who had dominated the
North before the death of Edward IV, and after his coronation had not restored
Percy to dominance. However, Lord Stanley and the Earl of Northumberland were
‘over-mighty subjects’ that could not be destroyed or replaced, and Richard lll
could only hope for their support. His one remaining powerful ally, John Howard,
Duke of Norfolk, was his only reliable supporter. Richard Il had to try to gain
support elsewhere, which he did by distributing lands and offices, but with
mixed outcomes.

Changes to southern England’s administration

Not all of the rebels were able to flee England, and the names of 104 individuals
were given on an attainder for treason in January 1484. These were many of the
leaders and administrators of the counties, and having been stripped of their lands
they were no longer in positions of authority. Their loss in the southern counties
was keenly felt, and combined with the loss of leading men who went into exile,
there remained a dangerous political vacuum in the south of England. As a
consequence, Richard Il became even more reliant on support from the northern
counties, and many individuals from the North were granted lands and offices

in the South even before the Act of Attainder had been passed. While it was not
uncommon for offices formerly belonging to rebels to be distributed immediately,
it was unprecedented to do the same with land and was highly illegal. For
example, Sir William Stanley was granted the Duke of Buckingham’s lordship of
Thornbury in Gloucestershire on 12 November 1483, and Sir Ralph Ashton, the
new vice-constable of England, was granted various lands formerly belonging to
sir John Fogge and other rebels on 12 December 1483. These grants did not take
into account the rights of widows or others who had rightful claims to the estates,

but Ri S :
ut Richard III’s actions in packing the lands with his supporters demonstrates

a keen awareness of the instabili ; -,
: ity of his position i .
having quashed the rebellion. p n in southern England, despite

er ta;l:i:lccijggi ;;n: the south of England .with northern men escalated after the Act
Sty Zmiz.\ry 14.84, al:ld while Richard Il may have believed it would
o ! p f" ion, his polfcy backfired. In the 15th century there was
e r!otlon of ‘the community of the shire’, which meant the government
of the shnre by established gentry families, linked by blood, marriage and ’
;:;r; thtzjr; il :gtirce:rs.tt;]\gr: |<[::e<:1ei-srel|z:)yt|:sente<}:l1 intru;;ion. Therefore the overt policy of
: e southern shires w
to dominate local government was a deep affront :o tlf:ir:;:;\?ey ;aenrfr;);iilcmd
i;jtr:;iess,t?:hzobr?tglie loss of any ‘sympathy for Richard Il among the southern
e hapt nn ,t :\s summarised by Charles Ross: ‘It is highly likely that the
otz 0 .erners and other outsiders on these terms finally cost
unpgopf[;:,c\j, i’;r]et ;all?g;‘ar;)ce of the southern and western gentry and was equally
e inhabitants at large.** Indeed, small uprisings continued i
the South, demonstrating Richard I1I’s weakened position th gI it
1484 Richard Edgecombe, a recently pardoned rebel of 1483erte'. ot Sum”.‘er -
South West, and later in 1484 trouble was awakened in Hertf,oS '”'e'd o e
by two Knights of the King’s Body, John Fortescue and John Rirsdlse:{r;iiggrzslslf:vas

never to gain any support from the sou i
hisshortrdian, thern and western counties for the rest of

It \a;.as clearly going to take time for Richard 1ll to win the confidence of his
::: aJe!::_ts, a!thbough as some historians have suggested he might have been able
chieve it because of his character. Despi
o . Despite the efforts of Tudor propagandist
. . . 5,
:1t0|: trllfew apparint with hindsight that Richard Il did have good qualitiesgand was
personification of evil. He could be charmin
d had energy and abili
and he worked hard to win i o o i
popularity. However, memories of the viol i
usurpation and the likely murder of his ne i o ot
phews were still very clear and it would
have taken many more years for Richard Iil to change the minds of his opponents
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The death of Richard Ill's wife and heir

132

A |

j Sougttess | 16 fruph- Voo ’,fm;,

a #l
4 ]

: LEE e 8 . SA
- A = R g
st s e g o = Tod o B
T e P .

e T
.

e

o

e r—

&

m.u..__ -~ Vol -
d their son, Edward, depicted alongside her f|_rst
tion by the Medieval historian
a pro-Yorkist view of recent

Figure 5.3: King Richard Ill, Queen Anne an _ :
hugsband Edward, son of Henry VI, in a contemporary illumina
John Rous (c. 1411-92). It comes from his book, the Rous Roll,

English history. e sy

As remarked by the historian Michael Hicks, ‘If Richard was weak as ar;dir;iz;ital,
his position would be much stronger if he headf-:d. a dynasty that wlou.t.mate

his own life. Unfortunately he had no brothers living and on.ly one eﬁl i e
son’™ Richard Ill invested all his hopes for the dynasty on h|§ son, whom e
created Prince of Wales in September 1483. Yet Edward of Middleham wa

child and at the beginning of April 1484 died, aged ten. It was a devastating blow

to Richard Ill and Queen Anne, both personally but also politically. The Croyland
Chronicler wrote of their utter grief, giving an eyewitness account that: ‘On hearing
the news of this, at Nottingham, where they were then residing, you might have

seen his father and mother almost bordering on madness, by reason of their
sudden grief’*?

Queen Anne was only 30 years old at the time of her only son’s death, but there
was clearly no possibility of her producing another heir. In ten years of marriage
she had only produced one child, and not long after her son’s death she too fell
gravely ill. In early 1485 her health deteriorated and she died on 16 March 1485.
However, many were suspicious of the circumstances surrounding her death, as
rumours were already circulating that Richard 11l had planned to replace his queen
and marry his niece, Elizabeth of York, Edward IV’s eldest surviving daughter.
Richard IIl had to deny the rumours, but the rumours showed the general dislike

of the king among his subjects and that his previous acts of violence during the
usurpation were still haunting him.

Richard III’s denial of the plans to marry Elizabeth of York was described in the
Acts of the Court of the Mercers’ Company of London: ‘Whereas as there have been
long discussions and much uninformed talk among the people by evil-disposed
persons, who have ... sown these rumours to the very great displeasure of the
king, showing how the queen was poisoned by consent and will of the king, so that
he might marry and have to wife the Lady Elizabeth, eldest daughter of his brother,
late King of England, deceased, whom God pardon ... the king sent for and had
before him at St John’s Day, yesterday, the mayor and aldermen. And in the great
hall, in the presence of many of his lords and many other people he shewed his
grief and displeasure, and said it never came into his thought or mind to marry in
such manner, nor was he pleased or glad at the death of his queen but as sorry and
heavy in heart as a man would be. ... And he then admonished and charged every
person to cease from such untrue talking, on peril of his indignation. Any person
who henceforward tells or repeats any of these aforesaid untrue rumours, is to be
put in prison until the author be produced from whom the said person heard the
said untrue rumour. And in this way the king has given command and charge to
the mayor to punish, and to call before him the wardens of all crafts, constables
and others, and to show to them the matter of his displeasure’’?

The problem of the succession

The death of an heir to any hereditary monarch is always a severe blow, but it was
all the more so for Richard II1. His throne was extremely insecure, and in 1484 any
immediate chance of securing a Yorkist succession was non-existent. Not only
had Queen Anne only produced one son in a decade of marriage, she was also
from a family that was far better at producing heiresses than heirs. Richard III’s
determination to marry into a great inheritance took priority over any thoughts
of maintaining a male line, a determination that the historian Charles Ross has
regarded as the downfall of many noble families in the Middle Ages.™ Itis not
surprising then that rumours quickly spread of his intention to marry Elizabeth

of York, as it would have thwarted Henry Tudor’s prospects as a claimant to the
throne. The king’s lack of an heir was another factor that weakened his position,
and only added fuel to the prospects for Henry Tudor’s claim to the throne.

5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy, 1483-1486
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After the death of his son, some historians have suggested that Richard I
named his nephew, Edward, Earl of Warwick, as his heir. He was George, Duke
of Clarence’s son by Queen Anne’s sister, Isabel. This was perhaps an awkward
choice. As the son of an attainted nobleman, all of his lands and title were in

royal custody, but, as the historian Christine Carpenter has pointed out, more
dangerous to Richard lll was that Edward had a better claim to the throne than
Richard Il himself.”* However, after the death of Queen Anne, Richard Ill eventually
named his heir as a different nephew, John de la Pole, Earl of Lincoln, who was
the son of the king’s elder sister Elizabeth. Although Richard Iil did have two
acknowledged illegitimate children who were probably fathered when he was a
teenager, and before his marriage to Anne Neville, neither had any claim to the
throne. As Richard Ill faced the very real threat of invasion by Henry Tudor, he was
still hoping for marriage to a new bride and the possibility of producing heirs, but

his plans to marry the sister of the King of Portugal came to nothing.

The downfall of Richard Ill

The return of Henry Tudor
Henry Tudor had fled to France after the Duke of Brittany and Richard Il had come

to terms and united against France, and it was from the French court that Henry
planned his invasion. He initially had the support of France, as English-backed
Brittany threatened Fra nce’s borders in the spring of 1485. However, Brittany
withdrew from France’s borders by July and the country’s promised support

to Henry disappeared. Yet Henry had a new impetus to his invasion plans, as
news had reached him of Richard lI’s reputed plans to marry Elizabeth of York.
He managed to raise the finances in the form of loans and not only managed to
assemble and arm a small force, but also recruited French mercenaries to bolster

his invasion force.

Henry Tudor’s invasion plans
News reached Richard IIl of Henry Tudor’s planned invasion, which was certainly

not unexpected. His response was to leave Westminster and head for more
secure support in the North, taking up residencein Nottingham in early June.
There he watched and waited for the threatened invasion. While he was waiting
he instructed his Chancellor to issue a proclamation in late June 1485, repeating
a proclamation already made in December 1484, condemning those he called
traitors and calling his subjects to arms against them. Thisis an extract from
Richard IlI’s proclamation against Henry Tudor in 1485:

‘... [the] rebels and traitors have chosen to be their captain one Henry Tudor,

son of Edmund Tudor, son of Owen Tudor, who of his ambition and anti-social
covetousness encroaches and usurps upon him the name and title of royal estate
of this realm of England, to which he has no manner of interest, right, title or
colour, as every man well knows; for he is descended of bastard blood both of
the father’s side and of the mother’s side. For the said Owen the grandfather
was bastard born, and his mother was daughter to John, Duke of Somerset, son
to John, Earl of Somerset, son to Dame Katherine Swynford, and born of herin
double adultery; from which it clearly appears that no title can or may be in him,
who fully intends to enter this realm, purposing a conquest. And if he should

5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy, 1483-14

;Zhif\r:? hr:s fa;jlse ‘lntent and p_urpose, every man’s life, livelihood and goods would
be ) s an. s, liberty and disposition, whereby would follow the disinheriting
e.str.uctlon of all the noble and worshipful blood of this realm for ever, and t;
the resisting and withstanding of which every true and natural Englishman’b ’
must lay to his hands for our surety and welfare. o

‘And to the intent that the said Henry Tudor might rather achieve his false intent
a?d purpose by the aid, support and assistance of the king’s said ancient enemy
o} France, he has covenanted and bargained with him and all the council of Franc
to give up and release in perpetuity all the right, title and claim that the kings of )
El?gland have, had and ought to have, to the crown and realm of France, to geth
with the duchies of Normandy, Anjou, and Maine, Gascony, and Guienne; tt:g -
castles and towns of Calais, Guisnes and Hammes, with thé marches ap[;ertiining

to the same, and sever and exclud
? ethe arms of
for aver France from the arms of England

|-IAnd in further pro?f and derriionstration of his said purpose of conquest, the said
enry 'I"udor has given to various of the king’s enemies and also to his said rebel
and tf'altors, archbishoprics, bishoprics and other spiritual dignities, and also ;5
duc.hles, earldoms, baronies and other possessions and inheritance:s of knights :
:c,qulres, gentlemen, and others of the king’s true subjects within the realm ; d’
rntend's also to change and subvert the laws of the same, and to induce an;jan
es:tabhsh new laws and ordinances amongst the king’s s;id subjects. And besid
thls.and the alienation of the abovenamed into the possession of th;:- kin ’sesl 'c? )
ancient ienemies, to the greatest destruction, shame and rebuke that mi it zjl
fall to ti.1|s said land, the said Henry Tudor and others, the king’s rebels aid t "atr
aforesaid, have intended at their coming, if they should have the power, to df::l:)ezs

most cruel murders, slaughters and robberi isi
. ) eries, and disinheritan
seen in the Christian realm. ’ ces that eververe

‘For the avoidance of these and other incalculable dangers, and to the intent

thatc the. king’s said rebels, traitors and enemies may be utt:erly driven awaenf
jchelr sa.|d malicious and false purpose, and soon discomforted, if the suc:e "3":1
in landing by force, the king our sovereign lord wills, charges a;md con):mand:alel!
al.r:d. eve:ryone oft‘he natural and true subjects of his realm to call the foregoing to
t _elr minds, and like good and true Englishmen to fortify themselves with all thei
_rnrghif for the defence of themselves, their wives, their children and goods and -
inheritances, against the said malicious purposes and conspiracies which thr:e said

ancient enemies have made with the king’s sai i
id rebel i
o g s and traitors for the final

;he tone v:.'as nothing short of ominous and menacing, and emphasised

frz:rl:]a ;ﬂdl;l need t;) be as prepared for war as possible. He had raised forced loans

e -r.nen, ut had :_;llso pawned plate and jewels to raise the necessary

- nds for military pre.parat:ons and action. On leaving London, the king had left Sir

Nzl:ferithrackenbury in command of a force at the Tower of London, the Duke of

sentczo Sv:r)?jst E:t ort\ alert to watc.h the eastern approach, and Viscount Lovell was

. mpton to _supewfse naval preparations. Around England and Wales
e prepared in readiness to signal any news of the invasion. ,

scrvirvss I

What can the historian deduce
from Richard I1I’s proclamation
about the preparations and
methods of the king?

pawned: the action of
depositing an object with a
money lender as security for
money lent.

beacons: fires or lights set

up in a high or prominent
position as a warning, signal or
celebration. They were used as
quick means by which a known
message could be sent across
land. In this case the message’
was that Henry Tudor had
arrived with his invasion force.
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Tudur ap Goronwy m Margaret John of Gaunt,
(d. 1367) Duke of Lancaster
great great grandson of 3rd son of Edward Ill
Ednyfed Fychan 1340-99
(d. 1246) m
(1) (2) (3)
Blancheof  Constance Katherine
I I I Lancaster of Castile  Swynford
Goronwyof  Ednyfed Rhys Gwilym Maredudd m Margaretd.
Penmynydd (d. 1412) of Dafydd 2 daughters one daughter
(d.1382) Fychan of
Trefeilir |
l Henry IV John Beaufort, 2 other sons &
1366-1413 Marquis of Dorset & Somerset 1 daughter
m m Margaret Holland (issue)
(1) Mary de Bohun (2) Johanna
of Navarre
no issue
3 other sons &2 daughters I ]
Owain ap Maredudd m (2) Catherine  m HenryV Henry Beaufort, John Beaufort 2sons &
ap Tudur of Valois Earl of Somerset Earl & Duke of 1 daughter
c. 1400-61 1401-18 1401-18 Somerset, (d. 1444)
(Owen Tudor) noissue m Margaret Beauchamp
of Biesto
[ | |
Edmund m Margaret Jasper m Catherine, one other son Henry VI m Margaret Margaret Beaufort
Earl of Richmond Beaufort Earl of Pembroke Dowager (Owen) & 1421-71 | of Anjou m 1443-1509
c.1430-1456 | q.w. &Duke of Bedford ~ Duchess of one daughter (1) Edmund Tudor,
€. 1431-1495 Buckingham Earl of Richmond (q.v.)
no issue (2) Henry Stafford (d. 1471)
Edward no issue

Henry VIl m Elizabeth

e.d.of 1453-71 (3) Thomas, Lord Stanley,

Edward IV Earl of Derby (d. 1504)
no issue
[ I I | I
Arthur Margaret Henry VI Mary Edmund 3 other children
1486-1502  1489-1541 m 1491-1547 1496-1533 1499-1500  d.ininfancy
m Catherine m (1) Catherine of Aragon| m
of Aragon (1) () (3) (2) Anne Boleyn }ISSUe (1) Louis XIl
JamesIV  Archibald Henry Stewart, (3) Jane Seymour no issue
noissue  1473-1513 Douglas, Lord Methven  (4) Anne of Cleves o (2) Charles Brandon,
Earl of Angus 1495-1551 (5) Catherine Howard [ isciie Duke of Suffolk
1490-71557 (6) Catherine parr l
v
issue issue noissue tasiia
Figure 5.4: The Tudor family tree.
Support for Henry Tudor

While exact dates are not known, Richard llI’s proclamation at the end of June
signalled the belief that invasion was imminent. Henry Tudor’s force consisted

of those who had fled to exile after the failed rebellion of 1483, and included
some very experienced commanders and fighting men. They included the Earl of
Pembroke, Sir Edward Woodville, the Bishop of Exeter, Giles Daubeney, Richard
Edgecombe and the Earl of Oxford, who had escaped from Hammes Castle in
1484, but the Marquess of Dorset was to remain in France as surety for one of the
loans taken out by Henry Tudor. The historian Michael Bennett has suggested
that the English contingent numbered no more than 500 men, while the French
mercenaries numbered somewhere in the region of 2000 men."” With such a small
force, Henry Tudor was reliant on the network of sympathisers in England, a
network that had been greatly encouraged by his mother Margaret Beaufort.

Theinvasion
The invasion force planned to land in Wales, not least because this was where
Tudor’s roots lay. It was certainly hoped that, while the Herbert family were
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now don-'linant in Wales, there would be a great deal of support for the invasion
there. W|.th this in mind, the invasion force left France on 1 August 1485, with the
expectation of fair summer weather giving the fleet a safer crossing tha,n the one
undertaken in 1483. On 7 August 1485 the force landed at Milford Haven on the
Pembrokeshire coast. It had been some 15 years since Henry Tudor had set foot
on Welsh soil. The force met no resistance there, but then neither were they met
by any allies. Undeterred, Henry Tudor began his march through Wales knowin
that the beacons would have quickly spread the news of the invasion. Letters :

were written to kinsmen urging them to rally to Tudor’s cause, and some
responded positively.

As the invasion force progressed through Wales, the first sign of uncertain loyalties
began to emerge, as those apparently loyal to Richard Il hedged their bets. Two

of the most significant men of Wales, Rhys ap Thomas and Walter Herbert ;;vere
flan!&ing the invasion force and giving the appearance that they were cont;ining
the invaders. Yet the forces of these men were in reality an addition to the invadin
force:, and when Henry promised Rhys ap Thomas the lieutenancy of Wales, the ¢
YOI'kI-St contingent joined the invading force. Not long after, Walter Herbert’; force
also joined that of Henry Tudor, greatly swelling the numbers of the army that
descended on Welshpool. There, the force was enlarged by clansmen from North

Wales. This greatly swelled force entered En
gland on 15 August and
surrender of Shrewsbury. ’ femanded he

7
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Figure 5.5: Map of the 1485 campaign.
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commissioner of array: an
officer who was commanded
by the king to muster and array
the inhabitants of a given area
and to getthemina condition
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Richard III’s call to arms

News of the invasion had reached Richard 11l within four days of the landing

at Milford Haven. The king immediately acted and sent summonses to lords,
gentlemen, sheriffs and commissioners of array. Richard lII’s commanders also
called their men to arms, and the Duke of Norfolk ordered his men to assemble

on 16 August at Bury St Edmunds. Yet there was also a sense of delay about
Richard IIl’s actions, and it may be that the messages he received about the
invading force underplayed its size. Former Yorkist loyalists like Rhys ap Thomas
probably sent letters to create an illusion of an ineffective invasion force.

Richard Ill was doubtless outraged when news of the taking of Shrewsbury
reached him, and treachery was clearly apparent. Other Yorkists were also seen to
be dragging their heels to come to the requested support of the king. Both the Earl
of Northumberland and Lord Stanley showed little hurry in bringing their forces to

the king’s side.

The support of the Stanleys
Nevertheless, Henry Tudor’s reception at Shrewsbury was lukewarm and there

was no popular uprising to boost his cause. He moved his force eastwardsin

the hope of drawingin support from the Stanleys and others. When he reached
Newport he was joined by Sir Gilbert Talbot with an additional force of 500 men
and the potential to influence other Englishmen to Henry Tudor’s cause. On
reaching Stafford, the invasion force slowed down, to allow time for the Stanleys
to push ahead into the Midlands. It gave the force a much needed rest, but also
allowed for supporters to be gathered.

Lord Stanley reached Lichfield by 17 August. Sir William Stanley, moving more
slowly, then met with Henry Tudor and conducted the invader’s entry into the

city on 20 August. Unlike the entry to Shrewsbury, this one saw Tudor received
with military honours. Lord Stafford in the meantime had already withdrawn from
Lichfield as if in retreat, but was actually offering a smokescreen while the rebel
force advanced. At Lichfield it is likely that more joined the rebel army, but exact
numbers are not known. Whatis known is that the Stanleys still kept their distance
from the rebel army, and while this was an effective strategy, it must have been
very demoralising for the men.

Richard |1l was meanwhile still struggling to get his supporters mobilised and

it was not clear what was happening around the rebel army. However, it was
certain that he had stayed in Nottingham for too long, and on 20 August he finally
moved his army to Leicester, arriving there at sunset. The Duke of Norfolk was
already there, and the next day the Earl of Northumberland also arrived. The
contemporary Croyland Chronicler claimed that this was the largest army ever
mustered on English soil to support one man. The Ballad of Bosworth Field makes
similar claims, listing all those peers who were present, and while not all took

an active role in the fighting, it certainly records a large and distinguished army
heavily loaded with members of the aristocracy.

still uncertain for Richard lll was the support of Lord Stanley. This uncertainty
greatly weakened the king’s position. It was easy to know that Henry Tudor was his
enemy; it was not easy being unsure about which side Lord Stanley’s company of
several thousand men would take. Lord Stanley avoided all of the king’s requests

to join the royal army. Yet counter to this, Henry Tudor was also uncertain as

to wheth.er‘he was going to receive the much-needed support of Lord Stanle

.and wa's in just the same predicament as Richard lll. However, Michael Bennizct

is convinced that Lord Stanley was working for the rebel cause, and that ‘there
can be.no doubt that he [Lord Stanley] was deliberately undermining the king’s
strateglc planning, and it seems likely that his manoeuvres were securin oﬁtical
and.mllitary objectives vital to the rebel cause. Besides maintaining a scfez.n
behind which Henry Tudor could draw breath and rally support, he had also
p.ushed a wedge between the king and southern England maki;g it possible t
disrupt the official musters and give heart to would-be rei)els’.ls ’

Sir William Stanley was also proving to be just as frustratingly elusive as Lord
Stanley, and on the evening of 20 August he and his troops left the rebel arm
apparently to join Lord Stanley. To make matters worse, Henry Tudor was ”
separate-d from the army and spent a miserable night with only a handful of
companions in hostile countryside. When he returned to his army the next

morning it was on the verge of disbanding, buth
) eman
to remain. & aged to persuade them

On 21 August Henry Tudor was near Atherstone, when he finally met with Lord
j:“,tanley to secure their alliance. No records survive of the agreement, but there
|5-no doubt that Henry Tudor believed that Stanley’s forces would be’ﬁ htin
with the rebel army. That evening, other men and companies from thegro allg
army defected, including those of Sir John Savage, Sir Simon Digby and Syirr Bri
Sandford. At the same time, Richard Il moved his force from Leicester toward -
Atherstone, and camped near Sutton Cheney, a few miles south of Market )
Bosworth. The stage was set for the meeting of the forces the next day.

Bosworth

According to the account of Polydore Vergil, Richard IlI’s army was twice the size
of Henry Tudor’s, and very well equipped with cavalry, infantry and artillery. Yet
while Henry’s army was smaller, it was boosted with well-paid foreign merce.enaries
who were not bothered about treason, and it was led by experienced captains and
capable knights. Henry’s smaller army deployed for battle early on the morning of
22 August. The first setback was that Lord Stanley did not send his soldiers in vﬁth
Henry’s army, but the would-be king had to go on as he was now committed to
battle. The Earl of Oxford was sent forward with the vanguard, with archers in th
front line, while Henry Tudor followed with his troop of cavalr;r and footmen. Th ;
met the king’s vanguard that was led by the Duke of Norfolk, which was muciw N

larger than the opposing van irrori
guard. Mirroring Henry Tudor, Rich i
vanguard with his own troops. K Renardlffollowed b

vanguard: the foremost part of
an advancing army.

The details of the battle are somewhat confused in contemporary accounts, which

suggest that the rebel army’s approach was an unusual one, which has sinc:e -

I;:)ucz;zt[izi T;odet:nlhlstorians. Recel?t archaeological research has proposed that the

e ng be |e‘.'ved to be the site of the battle is incorrect, and its repositioning
as helped to clarify some of the more confusing points given in contemporary

accounts. H.owever, the debate surrounding the position of the battle does not
affect the history of the course of its outcome.
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| . . ; : R

!l There are three ballads that concern the events of the white b_oar (le:hard I1f) who drives the last sprig (Henry %‘"’»Poad

| Battle of Bosworth, and while they need to be treated Tudor) into exile. rggevale O Atterton
with caution as a primary source, they are very useful A later ballad, dating from the 16th century, is the % s

P&Y Voices from the past

P&Y% Hidden voices
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The Stanley brothers and their
questionable loyalties

Thomas, Lord Stanley, and his brother, Sir William
Stanley, were the sons of Thomas Stanley, first Baron
Stanley (1406-59). Both brothers were staunch Yorkists
and strong supporters of Edward IV’s reign, and held
positions of authority under the king. Following the
death of Edward IV, Lord Stanley was one of the lords
who wanted to see a balance of power between
Richard, Duke of Gloucester, and the Woodville family.
During the second coup d’état Lord Stanley may have
been arrested, but if he was he did not suffer the same
fate as Lord Hastings and was at liberty by the time of
Richard lII’s coronation, where he bore the ceremonial
great mace, an important symbol of royal authority.
This signified Stanley’s support of Richard 11l at the

Lcoron ation. All appearances were that the Stanleys

acquiesced to the new king, particularly as they helped
Richard Il suppress the rebellion in 1483 and were
greatly rewarded. However, Michael J. Bennett has
suggested that they had little choice but to support
Richard 1l at that point in time as they were in his
presence.” Yet neither brother was in the king’s
presence when Henry Tudor’s invasion force landed,
and they then acted upon their own free will.

Discussion points
In groups, assess the relationships of the Stanley
brothers with:

1. Richardlll
2. Henry Tudor.

What effect did the two brothers have on the events of
14857

|

The ballad tradition of the 15th century

to the modern historian. Perhaps the most well known
is The Ballad of Bosworth Field, which is certainly the
most detailed and comprehensive of the ballads. It was
probably written by an eyewitness who was most likely
a member of the Stanley retinue, but it was written
within living memory of the battle rather than at the
time of the battle. Another ballad that was most likely
composed in 1485 was The Rose of England. Itis an

0
allegorical poem, in which England is a garden, where Battle of Bosworth. e | - 2 miles
I
_U 3 2 é km
Figure 5.7: The suggested new battle site.

a rose bush (the House of Lancaster) is disrupted by a

romantic ballad The Song of Lady Bessy, which as

the title suggests focuses on the plight of Elizabeth

of York (Lady Bessy). All three ballads describe the
actions of the main protagonists of the events of 1485
from different perspectives, and used alongside other
contemporary sources, such as chronicle accounts and
government records, they reveal a great deal about the
contemporary and near-contemporary views of the

THE
STANLEYS (?)

Ambion Hill ’
King Dick’
8Dk 4 RICHARD Il

HENRY
TUDOR

Sutton Chency

scviryss [

Find copies of the three ballads
described in Voices from the past:
The ballad tradition of the 15th .
century and list the key features o
each ballad. Critically analyse the
different styles and information
held within the ballads in order
to write a summary of their
usefulness to a historian studying
the Battle of Bosworth.

The appendices to Michael
Bennett’s The Battle of Bosworth
provide useful further information

Mancetter

—_—

Sence Brook

Burial Mound,

80

Spinnay
pinney

Fenny Drayton
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standard: a military or
ceremonial flag carried on a
pole, and in this case Henry
Tudor’s flag signified where he
was in the battle.
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In summary, the Earl of Oxford took the initiative in the battle. His vanguard closed
in on the Duke of Norfolk’s vanguard, but it was Henry Tudor’s troop that was in
the thick of the battle. Richard Il seized the opportunity to finish the challenge to
his throne and led a headlong cavalry charge towards Henry Tudor’s standard.
This manoeuvre was highly unusual because it was extremely dangerous for
the leader to make a direct aim for another leader in the thick of a battle. It was
an action not seen in the other battles of the Wars of the Roses, but Richard lil’s
decision was almost successful. In the charge, Sir William Brandon, Henry Tudor’s
standard-bearer, was killed, and Richard Il personally fought and killed one of
Henry’s leading knights, Sir John Cheyne. However, the French mercenaries in
Henry Tudor’s troop protected their leader from the attack by Richard I, which
faltered. Seeing the weakening of the king’s attack, Lord Stanley finally made his
move in Henry Tudor’s favour and joined the battle. This tipped the balance to
Henry’s cause, and won the battle for the would-be king. Richard 11l was killed
fighting in the midst of the mélée, for which even Tudor historians admired his
bravery in the thick of battle. The ever-loyal Duke of Norfolk was also killed in the
battle. However, the Earl of Northumberland, holding the rear of Richard 1lI’s force,
appears not to have joined the battle and watched events unfold from afar.

The Italian scholar and historian Polydore Vergil gave this account of the Battle of
Bosworth, written ¢. 1503-13:

“The king’s forces were twice as many and more. ... There was a marsh between
both hosts, which Henry purposely left on the right hand, that it might serve his
men instead of a fortress; by doing this he left the sun upon his back; but when
the king saw the enemies past the marsh, he commended his soldiers to charge
against them. They made suddenly great shouts and assaulted the enemy first
with arrows; their foes were not at all loath to fight and began also to shoot
fiercely; but when they came to hand strokes the matter then was dealt with
by blades. ... While the battle continued thus hot on both sides between the
vanguards, King Richard understood ... when Earl Henry was afar off with a small
force of soldiers about him; then after drawing nearer he knew it perfectly by
evident signs and tokens that it was Henry. Wherefore, all inflamed with ire, he
struck his horse with the spurs, and ran against him out of his own army ahead
of the vanguard. ... King Richard at the first brunt killed some men, overthrew
Henry’s standard, together with William Brandon the standard bearer. Then he
matched himself against John Cheney, a man of much strength, far exceeding the
common sort, who strove with him as he came; but the king with great force drove
him to the ground, making way with his weapon on every side. But yet Henry
abode the brunt longer than even his own soldiers would have thought, who
were now almost out of hope of victory, when suddenly William Stanley with 3000
men came to the rescue. Then trulyina moment the remainder all fled, and King
Richard was killed fighting manfully in the thickest press of his enemies. In the
mean time also the Earl of Oxford after a little skirmishing put to flight those who
fought in the van, whereof a great company were killed in the chase. But many
more forbore to fight, who came to the field with King Richard for awe, and for no
goodwill, and departed without any danger, as men who desired not the safety but
destruction of that prince whom they hated. There were about 1000 men killed,
and amongst them of warrior noblemen were John, Duke of Norfolk, Walter, Lord

Ferrers of Chartley, Robert Brackenbury, Richard Radcliffe, and many more. ... And
of those who took to their feet Francis Lovell, Humphrey Stafford, with Tho;ﬁ.a‘s his
(l;nitl;]er and much more company, fled into the sanctuary of St John, which is at

o. chester. ... As for the number of captives it was very great ... amongst them the
chief were Henry, Earl of Northumberland, and Thomas, Earl of Surrey. The latter
was comlmitted to prison, where he long remained; the fc;rmer asa frie-nd at heart
was received unto favour. Henry lost in that battle scarcely a hundred soldiers,

amongst whom there was one princi illi
pal man, William Brandon
Henry’s standard. ..* o boreEar

Richard IlI’s body was taken from the field and stripped. It was tied to a horse and
taken to Leicester and displayed for three days, a gruesome necessity for provin
that the king was dead. He was buried in Greyfriars Church in Leicester without ¢
pomp or ceremony, and the legend grew that when the friary was dissolved b
Henry VIII, Richard 1II’s bones were dug up and thrown into the River Soar. Regent
excavations at the site of the Greyfriars Church have concluded that this l:”-.' end
was false, and that Richard III’s body had lain undisturbed with many othefs in the
covered-up graveyard since the 16th century. Yet the legend of the destruction of

Richard III’s grave certainly demonstrat r
es the contempt in whi
many centuries. pt in which he was held for so

Henry Tudor’s victory was the most decisive of the Wars of the Roses, but while it
was such a momentous event it was one of the smallest of the battle; The numbe
of nobles and commoners involved by no means matched those invol‘ved atthe r
B‘attles of Tewkesbury, Barnet or Towton. As summarised by David Grummitt: ‘the
Flls?ngagement from politics that this suggested was probably the most dam}1in
indictment of Richard III’s short reign. Henry Tudor, who had been a political ¢
nobody in 1483, was able to march across Wales and into England virtually
unopposed and defeat in battle a king who should have been able to deploy the
loyalty of his subjects and the resources of the realm against the pretenc[;)er?i1

The proclamation of a new Tudor dynasty under Henry VI

Despite the resounding victory at Bosworth, Henry VIl had a monumental task
ahead of him in securing his throne. Once again a usurper king was on the throne
one who was supported by a small faction. He began by dating his reign from ,
21 August 1485, which made all those who fought against him traitors. However,
r’:IS noted by Sean Cunningham, the new king acted with considerable ienienc ’
in the weeks following the battle.”? Edward, Earl of Warwick, the heir to the mile
Plantagenet line, was captured as a precaution against an uprising. The Earls of
Nlorthumberland and Surrey were also captured, but the only execution of one of
Richard IlI’s followers was that of William Catesby. On 11 October 1485 a general
pardon was issued to all but those who had fled. i

One week after Henry VII's coronation (30 October 1485) Parliament was
Sl‘Jmmoned to meet at Westminster on 7 November. At this Parliament, Henry VIl
did no1§ ask for the ratification of his title, but rather presented his rigl';t andriitle
as a. fait accompli. As far as he was concerned, the attainder Richard Ill had passed
against him was made null and void when he became king. This was perha ps to
set the tone of Henry VII’s rule. Significantly, the parliamentary proclamatign

5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy, 1483-1486

ratification: the official way to

confirm something, usually by
vote. It is the formal validation
of a proposed law.
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Consider the circumstances of the
battle before the Stanleys made
their move to support Henry Tudor.
How might events have been
different had they not joined in at
all, or joined Richard lil’s sources?
Write a one-page summary of your
thoughts. Consider whether this
type of counterfactual history is

a useful exercise to the historian in
general.

’ Key terms

counterfactual history: a

explored by considering what if
something had not happened
and how events would have
changed.

Whiggish: the outlook of
the Whig historians, who
saw the past as an inevitable
progression towards better
things.

method by which history can be
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confirming Henry VII’s right and title made no mention of his pledge to marry
Elizabeth of York, which had previously been considered a major term for his claim

to the throne.

Figure 5.8: Henry VIl fused the white rose of York and the red rose of Lancaster to symbolise
the uniting of the two houses.

CSL Davies

In recent years, the acclaimed historian CSL Davies has taken issue with
the term ‘Tudor Dynasty’, especially in relation to Henry VII’s visions of the
future. In a review of Sean Cunningham’s biography of Henry Vil in 2008 he
voiced his concerns about the ‘well-established tradition in representing

Henry as trying to “establish his dynasty™.*

The main crux of Davies’s argument is that Henry VIl had no idea what
the future held and that indeed a ‘Tudor Dynasty’ was in its infancy. He
points out that it is a 19th-century style ‘Whiggish’ approach to suggest
that Henry VIl created a future that was unknown to him. Another problem
is that the name Tudor was not used by Henry VIl himself, but rather by
Richard Ill as an insult to the Earl of Richmond in his proclamations against
him in order to emphasise his lowly origins. Indeed, the family name
was not used in official documents nor in histories until after 1584. After
all, why would the royal family want to remind people of their descent
from a Welsh adventurer? However, as CSL Davies has also admitted, the
terms “The Tudors”, “Tudor period” and so on are so entrenched in the
historian’s vocabulary that it is clearly impractical to abandon them. But it
would be salutary to remind ourselves that these were not contemporary
terms, and that this point has implications for how we should see the

history of his reign.*

For further reading on this standpoint by CSL Davies, it is worth reading
his article published in 2012. Davies CLS. Tudor: What’s In A Name? History

2012; 97 (325). p. 24-42.7

Speak like a historian

5 The Downfall of the Yorkist Monarchy, 1483-1486
Henry VIlI's marriage to Elizabeth of York

Fo[l.owmg Henry VIP's proclamation as king, he repealed Richard IlI's proclamation
as king from 1484. It was important that he did this, as the proclamation had
de.clare-d Elizabeth of York illegitimate. The new king could not marry and have
heirs with a woman who was illegitimate, and so this matter had to be dealt with
before he could confirm his declaration to marry her. Sean Cunningham has also
suggested the delay in declaring the marriage plans, which were by no means
s.ecret, was in order to allow time to confirm the fate of her brothers.” It also gave
Flme to deal with other matters, such as reversing all attainders that'were maie

In 1471, thereby restoring leading Lancastrians to their lands. This included his
mother, Margaret Beaufort, Edmund, Duke of Somerset, and Edward Stafford,

Duke of Buckingham. The attainders of 1
: 484 on Henry VII's f
also reversed. ry ollowers were

Henry VIl formally announced his intention to marry Elizabeth of York on

10 December 1485, and awaited a papal dispensation to allow the marriage to
pro'cee.d. This duly arrived, and the couple were married on 18 January 1486
While ll_ttle is known of the marriage ceremony itself, it was deeply significan:c to
the political state of the country, as its aim was to unite the political supporters

of Tudor and York. The Tudor rose that Henry Vil devised as his badge \5:5

an amalgamation of the white rose of York and red rose of Lancaster which
symbolised this union. Eight months after the marriage, on 18 September 1486
Henry VII’s heir, Arthur, was born, signifying dynastic security in the form of an I:Ieir.

Further reading
The R?chard_[ll Society publishes an academic journal, The Ricardian. which
contains articles on Richard |1l and late Medieval history and culture. It is worth

exploring some of the articles in any of the vol i
; umes, but a particularly extensi
volume that is worth finding is volume 13. e

There are numerous biographies of Richard I1I, but the most respected is C Ross
Richard Il (?ther biographies that look at Richard IIl from interesting angles are’
R Horrox, Richard IlI: A Study in Service, and MA Hicks, Richard I,

gile Edward V’s' life and reign were very short, it is worth reading MA Hicks
ward V: The Prince in the Tower. It is a useful study providing an interesting angle
on the events outlined in this chapter. ¢

For an in-depth study of the Battle of Bosworth, including a particularly useful
guide to the contemporary sources, see M Bennett, The Battle of Bosworth. A more

provocative study for advanced reading is M
a Battle. g is MK Jones, Bosworth, 1485: Psychology of
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